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This study relates to the area bounded by Hale Street, Musgrave Road, Petrie Terrace and Milton 

Road, and primarily the residential area behind the mixed commercial street frontages of Caxton 

Street and Petrie Terrace. City Plan 2014 has much of the area zoned CH1 Character Residential. 

The area was the subject of a field study undertaken by the National Trust in 1977, suggesting they 

were active in designating this town planning/development constraint. The BHG Research Library has 

digitised copies of many of the worksheets for each individual property, and photographic prints of 

some of the buildings and houses from that time. Rod Fisher and his associates subsequently, during 

the 1980s, returned and photographed the buildings again.  

Forty years later we decided it was time for an update, and this set of street albums provides a 

snapshot of how the houses, predominantly small lot timber cottages, have been adapted for current 

day living. The area was predominantly working class in the 1970s, however, as with other older city 

fringe suburbs this has changed over time. It will primarily be of interest to residents interested in 

the history of their home, and we would welcome feedback, particularly if you would like to share 

this information in future updates. 

For the albums we have used scanned copies of photographic prints when available, photocopies 

when not, and digital images for current conditions. A number of the houses photographed in the 

1980s included side and rear views which can be made available on request. There appears to have 

been some renumbering of properties over time – apologies in advance if we have erred. 

Your comments and corrections will be appreciated. 

Kaye Mobsby & Andrew Darbyshire   bhgresearchlibrary@gmail.com 
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Part 1888 Drainage Works Plan D-9-99 (BCC Archives) 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study –Wellington Street vApril 2024 

 

 

 

 

part c1890 Drainage Works Plan D-13-29 (BCC Archives) 

 

 

Part 1911 Road Improvement Plan E-10-68 BCC Archives 
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Part c1890 Area Improvements Plan E-11-61 BCC Archives 
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c1982 

 

January 2024 

Wellington Street looking west 
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c1983 (previously carpark) 

 

January 2024 

No 1 – 11 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 14 Wellington Street 
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ALBERT VILLA 1885-86 – No 14 Wellington (cnr Ormonde Street) 

Because of changes in the economic climate, many Wellington Street subdivisions, which 

were put on the market by Bishop Quinn in the mid 1860s remained unsold until the 1880s. 

One of these was the first block high on the hill behind Kelso House, opposite the terrace 

houses. This had two owners in quick succession until purchased by Peter Albert in 1884. 

Albert had already bought a little gabled cottage built in brick, just along the side laneway at 

the Princess Street corner, where he lived by 1885. In the same year he raised a building 

society mortgage for £180 on Wellington Street, and built the existing dwelling soon after. 

In some ways this is a typical 1880s worker’s dwelling, which normally had a four-roomed 

core beneath a pyramid-shaped roof clad in corrugated iron; a verandah front and back with 

convex iron, decorative timber brackets, capitals and strings on chamfered posts, and plain 

broomstick balusters in between; chamferboards on at least two external walls, the front 

and back often being lined only on the inside; panel doors and four-paned sash windows; 

‘single-skin’ tongue and groove internal walls; and a kitchen chimney. Here we have most of 

these features, partly obscured by fibro sheeting, with the addition of double French doors 

leading onto a side verandah, a neat little kitchen house attached lengthwise to the back 

side, two petite sunhoods over the kitchen window and a serviceable area underneath. 

Furthermore the house is positioned on the edge of three site boundaries of the 9 1/3 perch 

block, leaving a good-sized yard. Though the kitchen house might have been added a little 

later, the outcome was a charming timber and tin residence, a great improvement over two-

roomed cottages, and somewhat superior to run of the mill workers’ houses in the 1880s. 

While known as Albert Villa for many years, there is no indication that the owner lived there 

himself. He is listed at his small brick dwelling around the corner, called Albert Cottage in 

later years. One of the tenants in 1889 was E Irving Dickson, for five years a correspondence 

clerk with the Queensland Water Supply Department. He foolishly resigned in September, 

hoping for better work in a lawyer’s office but without success. In reapplying for a 

government job he stressed that he would be only too thankful for an appointment 

‘anywhere and in any suitable capacity’. The Colonial Secretary curtly endorsed the letter 

with a ‘No Vacancy’. The boom of the eighties was already heading for the bust of the 

nineties. 

This might have had something to do with the departure of Peter Albert from Brisbane by 

1889, leaving both of his houses to be tenanted until his death in 1922.  

 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher (1988 BHG Publication) 
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c1982 

 

January 2024 

No 15 – 17 Wellington Street 
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Hibernia Scotia Terrace also known as Bloomsbury House 
Brisbane City Council Local Heritage Place since 1 January 2004 
 

Notes from the citation: 

Irish born Ellen Mooney acquired this land in September 1865. A year later she married 

building contractor John Arthur Manis O’Keefe. By the 1880s, John O’Keefe had built many of 

Brisbane’s landmark buildings including St Patrick’s Church in Fortitude Valley, St Andrew’s 

Church in South Brisbane, and Her Majesty’s Opera House.  

He had become the preferred contractor of the architectural firm Stombuco and Son, 

operated by Andrea and Giovanni Stombuco. 

O’Keefe acquired a number of blocks of land adjacent to the Wellington Street land owned by 

his wife. He was responsible for the erection of nearby O’Keefe’s Buildings (226-230 Petrie 

Terrace) circa 1881, where the family resided. It is probable this was also a Stombuco 

designed building. During 1886-87 Stombuco and Son designed additional terrace houses for 

O’Keefe in (the suburb of) Petrie Terrace, which may be the Wellington Street terrace houses.  

The Wellington Street properties were built for rental purposes. 

John O’Keefe died in 1913 and Ellen retained ownership until her death in 1931. They 

remained in the family until 1956. At that time the property was reportedly known as 

‘Bloomsbury House'. 
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c1984  

 

January 2024  

No 18 – 26 Wellington Street  
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 19 – 25 Wellington Street 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study –Wellington Street vApril 2024 

 

No 19 - 25 Wellington Street 

Brisbane City Council Local Heritage Place since 1 January 2004 

 

Notes from the citation: 

John Arthur Manis O’Keefe purchased subdivisions 12 and 13 of Section 2 of Allotment 307 in 

Bishop’s Hill on 18 September 1883. Each block was small, being just 10 perches in area. 

He had arrived in Queensland in 1864 and mined a 3,000 acre site at Gympie. O’Keefe was 

an Irish Catholic and was known to be Bishop Quinn’s favourite builder. He built St Patrick’s 

Church in Fortitude Valley, St Andrew’s Church in South Brisbane and the first part of St 

Joseph’s Christian Brothers School in Gregory Terrace. His best-known building was Her 

Majesty’s Opera House in Queen Street and he also entered politics gaining election to the 

local government Woolloongabba Divisional Board. 

On 12 November 1883, O’Keefe mortgaged lots 12 and 13 for £750 and may have used this 

money to build the row of four small, terrace houses across the two blocks on this sloping, 

Wellington Street land. Given that O’Keefe had employed the eccentric Italian architect 

Andrea Stombuco to design his ‘O’Keefe Buildings’ (1881) and the ‘Illawarra Buildings’ 

(‘Petrie Mansions’) at 242 Petrie Terrace in 1887, then Stombuco possibly helped with the 

design of the Wellington Street terrace houses.  

O’Keefe built a modest row of terrace houses whose form reflected their hillside location. He 

maximised usage of the 20-perch area by constructing each terrace house as a three-storey 

residence - the third storey attic with a dormer window. Each had a ground floor, first floor 

balcony and brick fireplaces on all three floors with a small rear courtyard of each building 

accessible from Wellington Lane. The row of terrace houses was completed by 1884. A year 

later, the Queensland colonial government’s Undue Subdivision of Land Prevention Act of 

October 1885 sought to prevent the kind of cramped urban development that O’Keefe had 

built in Wellington Street. The Act banned the subdivision and subsequent sale of land into 

house blocks smaller than 16 perches. O’Keefe had managed to place a residence on a 5-

perch block.  

The first tenants of these terrace house row were potter George Fox (No.19), Department of 

Public Inspection clerk James O’Brien (No.21), labourer Ryan Owen (No.23) and building 

contractor Samuel Rose (No.25). 

The 1890s Depression in Queensland badly affected O’Keefe’s business operations. On 29 

September 1890, O’Keefe’s business went into liquidation with his Wellington Street terrace 

house row entrusted to his receiver. There followed a rapid turnover of owners for the 

remainder of the decade. By its end the Queensland National Bank Ltd held the title. On 21 

January 1911, Eleanor Jane Walker, wife of Francis (Frank) Lawrence Walker, purchased the 

property from the Bank. She held the property until her death in 1938.  
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By the 1930s, (the suburb of) Petrie Terrace had deteriorated into a run-down, inner-city 

area, containing low-cost rental housing which attracted artists, actors, students and others 

seeking such accommodation.. 

Frank Walker and the Queensland Public Trustees Office took joint control of the row of 

terrace houses on 21 March 1939 until 1947 when Thomas Norman Chatworthy Pike became 

the new owner. Pike registered the property as tenements, and rented them as separate 

residences. Geoffrey and Joyce Pike took-over the property in 1964. The Pike family were the 

owners and landlords of the terrace houses until Geoffrey’s death in 1977. During this time, 

the condition of the nineteenth century terrace houses deteriorated. The Sunday Mail 

described their state in 1977 as ‘unattractive tenements’ and ‘crowded tenements, boxed in 

by chamferboards, housing three families each’.  

On 10 November 1977, advertising consultant Daniel and Lorraine Breaden purchased the 

property with the purpose of restoring the terrace houses so that they could be sold 

separately as private townhouses. There was initial public scepticism to the proposed 

restoration. The project aimed to return the buildings to their original 1880s exterior 

appearance with the (1979) project estimate cost being $60,000. The chamferboard was 

removed, the interior walls stripped to reveal the original sandstone and brick, and new 

internal staircases, kitchens, bathrooms and wrought iron balcony railings installed. The 

builder was DC Tyler. 
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Newspaper advertisement c1997 (BHG Newspaper Cuttings Book) 

   



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study –Wellington Street vApril 2024 

 

 

c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 27 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 30 Wellington Street  
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 34 Wellington Street 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study –Wellington Street vApril 2024 

 

 

July 1984 

 

January 2024   

No 35 Wellington Street 
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CASINO COTTAGE 1883-85 – No 35 Wellington Street  

This is a large gable-roofed house with a four-roomed core and attic rooms. But like many 

earlier buildings in Brisbane, it was turned gable-end towards the street. This feature and 

several others make Casino Cottage a most distinctive dwelling. 

Instead of a large-scale excavation into the hillside or hoisting the house high on stilts, an 

extra floor was built beneath. This extended only partway under the next level, leaving the 

back portion open on thick wooden stumps and a stone wall. In the front part were two 

sizeable rooms, the lefthand side, with a high arched fireplace, being the kitchen. 

This kind of solution was quite common around these hilly suburbs, whether the land sloped 

up or down. On a slope downwards from the street, the kitchen normally extended right 

across the back half of the house and was connected upwards by means of steps in the back 

verandah. The earliest known examples in Petrie Terrace are Princess Row of the early 1860s 

and Chase’s House c1880. Later instances can be seen in Wellington and Mountjoy Streets. 

Casino Cottage, however, had a kitchen, another room and fire cellar underneath, four rooms 

including a parlour fireplace on the second level leading to the backyard, two attic rooms 

plus storage space in the roof, and three flights of internal stairs. 

These three levels provided ample scope for an imposing timber façade, each main room 

having a bay window opening onto the front verandah through French doors, while the attic 

room sported a Juliet balcony. In later years the front was drastically boxed.  

Though the steep slope and dimensions of a single 10 perch block account for some of these 

features, there was, as usual, a personal factor. The first purchaser of this subdivision from 

Bishop Quinn’s estate in 1883 was Samuel Rose, a carpenter from nearby O’Connell Town, 

now Windsor. He evidently built the house by 1885 and resided there until 1891, then moved 

to Maroon as a selector and builder. 

The second householder for twenty years was Robert Boyle, his wife Eliza Ann being the title-

holder. The Boyles were also going up in the world, having shifted from a basic two-roomed 

cottage in lower Princess Street. Boyle was a mariner turned engineer, who retired to 

Wellington Street and possibly Kelvin Grove thereafter. The name ‘Casino Cottage’ dated 

from his occupancy, giving the place an exotic Italian flavour. After that the house was 

tenanted, then mutilated and now revamped. 

When first built in 1883-85, such a distinctive dwelling stood out from the scattered workers’ 

dwellings down the hill. To some extent this might have justified the first rather grandiose 

street name of ‘Wellington Parade’. 

 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher (1988 BHG Publication) 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 38 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 42 Wellington Street 
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Surveyor’s notebook, original sketch 1914  

 (Brisbane City Council Archives)  
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Toowoomba Chronicle 15 May 1918  

(NLA Trove digitised newspapers) 
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March 1982 (BHG Newspaper Cuttings Book) 

No 42 Wellington Street (rear) 
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November 1983 

 

January 2024   

No 43 Wellington Street 
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November 1987 (BHG Newspaper Cuttings Book)  
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 46 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 47 Wellington Street 
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c late 1970s 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 50 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 51 Wellington Street 
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Courier Mail November 2007 (BHG Newspaper Cuttings Book) 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 54 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024   

No 55 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 58 Wellington Street 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 59 Wellington Street 
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Early 1980s  
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1977 

 

January 2024  

No 62 Wellington Street 
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Surveyor’s notebook, original sketch 1914 

(Brisbane City Council Archives) 
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Practice in the back yard, Zero’s open air concert in the lane behind 62 Wellington Street 

(Regent Street) being shut down by the police, par for the course in the late 1970s 

I moved into 62 Wellington St Petrie Terrace at the end of 1978, co-owned by a woman called 

Bronwyn Nicholas who had owned the Curry Shop in Roma St with the other co-owner Kevin 

Hayes. The house on a hill, was near to Queensland Police and Police Mobile Headquarters. It 

was a classic workers cottage with a ramp from Wellington St to a wood slatted verandah. 

There was a long drop to the bottom of the house. We buried our pot in a jar under the 

house.  

Graham Aisthorpe young cub reporter who died too young, in the magazine Backstage in 

October 1980, noted that the house “was more like Central Station of the blossoming sub 

culture. It was open house to anyone who knew anyone who lived there and pointing out the 

actual residents wasn’t always easy. In the summer months the air was thick with smoke 

vibrating with the latest Talking Heads album. And always there was Lindy’s drum kit in the 

corner“. 

Gerard Lee the writer, documented his experience with The Floozies in 

Wellington St in ‘True Love and How to Get it’. He concentrated on 

activities around the huge sunken bath, which was the centre of our 

social life. ”Inside the air is thick with gunga fog, punk rock, punk racket, 

punk rage." 

4ZZZ, The Velvets, The Sex Pistols, The Saints and Patti Smith competed 

with Bronwyn's piano from her bedroom playing Satie Gymnopedie #1.    

 

Lindy Morrison January 2024 
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1981 

 

January 2024  

No 63 Wellington Street 
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Surveyor’s notebook, original sketch 1914 

(Brisbane City Council Archives)  
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SWIFT’S SHOP-HOUSE 1888 – No 63 Wellington Street  

At the bottom of the hill stands a two-storied timber building with a balcony overhanging the 

street, a recessed doorway and a large divided window on either side. This was obviously a 

shop with an upstairs dwelling. 

The upper floor is a typical late 1880s four-roomed, pyramid-roofed timber and tin worker’s 

dwelling, with verandahs and criss-cross wall-bracing front and back, simply plonked on top 

of the shop. On the left the living-room connects to the kitchen, with a bedroom off each to 

the right. There was no bathroom or dunny inside. The interior walls remained unpainted for 

many years, while downstairs only the front wall of the shop was lined. The upper front 

verandah was narrowed and provision was made for a stairwell in the living-room joists. But 

no internal staircase eventuated until the 1980s renovations. For almost a century everyone 

entered up the back steps and in through the kitchen. 

Another feature is that the shop extended only halfway beneath the house, leaving the back 

part open on thick hardwood stumps with antcaps. This arrangement was largely dictated by 

the sharp incline, which meant applying the kind of plan which was often used for sub-floor 

kitchens in this hilly area. However, there were a couple of small rooms added within the 

stumped space, one probably as a washing room around the long demolished lower 

fireplace. 

Like so many places in Petrie Terrace, this was not the earliest house on the site. The first, a 

basic cottage, was built on two 10 perch blocks which Mrs Ellen Brown bought from Bishop 

Quinn in 1866. She was possibly the wife of Thomas Brown, a carpenter listed for nearby 

Regent Street in the 1874 directory. One day she was standing in the kitchen with her back to 

the open hearth talking, when she cried ‘Oh Nelly, I am on fire!’ Her daughter tried to remove 

the muslin dress, then ran to the next room for a blanket, but fainted, being badly burnt 

herself. On hearing the cries, a neighbour rushed in and smothered the flames, followed by a 

constable, who called the doctor. Ellen was taken to Brisbane Hospital by horsecab – to no 

avail, as death came early next morning. After that tragedy no resident was listed for either 

block of land until Bernard Swift, a railway labourer, in 1889. 

Swift had lived for several years in Petrie Terrace before purchasing one of Ellen Brown’s 

blocks in 1887 and raising a £210 bank loan for building the shop-house the following year. 

He dwelt there until the late 1890s, then rented No 18 up the hill, followed by Albert Villa 

next door. The store, which was originally run by ‘Miss Swift, grocer’ continued until at least 

1939. After the war, radical changes were made to accommodate an immigrant family, and 

pasta was peddled downstairs. Though no longer a shop, something of its original character 

has been restored. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher (BHG Publication 1988) 

(Rod Fisher lived at this residence and undertook much of the renovation)   
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Sunday Mail article August 1988 (BHG Newspaper Cuttings Book) 
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April 1993 
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c1982 

 

January 2024  

No 66 Wellington Street 
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Surveyor’s notebook, original sketch 1914 

(Brisbane City Council Archives) 
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c1910s  

 

Fahey family group sometime before 1913  

“The top photo is my great-grandmother Mary Fahey (nee Ryan) and great-aunt also named 

Mary Fahey. My great-grandparents John & Mary Fahey emigrated from Cappawhite, 

Tipperary, Ireland arriving on the ‘Renfrewshire’ in 1875.”  

Photos and descriptions courtesy of Phil Mellifont (Aug 2023) 
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Des and Colin Reiger in the backyard of No 66 Wellington Street 1952 

The Reiger family lived in the house after the Fahey family sold it. 

Photo courtesy of Jenny Owen (nee Reiger) 
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c1970 

 

c1982 

No 67 Wellington Street 
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January 2024  

No 67 Wellington Street  
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1977 

 

January 2024  

No 70 Wellington Street 
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Surveyor’s notebook, original sketch 1914 

(Brisbane City Council Archives)   
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c1985 

 

January 2024  

Wellington Street looking east  
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1883 Land Auction plan of Bishop’s Hill, Petrie Terrace (SLQ) 

Petrie Terrace west of Fiveways would subsequently be renamed Musgrave Road and the 

north-south Gov’t Road, initially Cemetery Road, would be extended through Portion 315 and 

become Hale Street 

 

‘Bishop’s Hill’ was an appropriate name for this locale, James Quinn the RC Bishop of 

Brisbane purchased seven of the Portions fronting Petrie Terrace stretching from Regent 

Street to Hale Street. He missed out on Portion 311 which was purchased by Edward 

Wyndham Tufnell, C of E Bishop of Brisbane.  
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July 1900 Plan of City of Brisbane & Suburbs according to the original land grants 

(Surveyor General’s Office –State Library of Queensland) 

 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study –Wellington Street vApril 2024 

 

 

1951 Part aerial photograph BCC 000539333 

(Queensland Government - QImagery) 
 


